
 

 

ñGo Now to Shilohò: Renewed Excavations at an Ancient  
Highlands Cultic Site 

 
"Numerous questions remain unanswered. Was the site [Shiloh] practically 
unoccupied during the Bronze Age, or did the Israelites occupy a site already 
sacred? When did they take it, during the Bronze Age, or at the beginning of 
Early Iron? This is another of the sites, which, like Ai and Jericho, can assist 
in determining the date and character of the Hebrew conquest. Was the place 
unoccupied during the Middle and Late Iron Ages, that is after the loss of the 
ark? And was it destroyed by the Philistines, or did it gradually fall into ruins 
after the loss of the ark?" McCown, Chester C. ñArchaeological News.ò 
American Journal of Archaeology 34, no. 1 (1930): 96. 
 



 

 

Another excavation day begins as diggers disembark from the bus. The sun 
peaks over the Transjordan Mountains in the east, illuminating the distant twin 
towers in Amman, Jordan. Silently, or so it seems, the workers climb the short 
distance from the parking lot to Area H1, a walk that pilgrims have made for 
millennia. Some appear half sleep while others focus intently on the day 
ahead. Volunteers veer to their squares. A family with younger children stops 
at the first square while a group of college students pours into another.1 An 
older couple slowly but steadily manages to be the final volunteers up the hill. 
Blue shirts interspersed among the crowd designate supervisors who have 
invested years of their lives climbing similar hills to solve similar conundrums. 
But Shiloh stands unique among the ubiquitous mounds in the southern 
Levant. Here, in the tribal territory of Ephraim Joshua ordered the tabernacle 
to be erected as a home for the Ark of the Covenant. Here, the sacrificial 
system closed the gap between human sinfulness and celestial perfection. In 
just seven hours, the shofar will blow, signaling the end of fieldwork for 
another day. In these hours, 1,750 pieces of pottery will be excavated, along 
with 35 objects, 2-3 new walls, 2-3 new installations, and maybe even glyptic 

remains. 
 
Picture 1: Sun rising over the eastern mountains. (Photo by Suzanne 
Lattimer) 
 

                                                 
1 Participating universities include Lee University, University of Northwestern, University of 

Pikeville, The Bible Seminary, and College of Biblical Studies. 



 

 

 
Occupational History 
 
The MB IIb period (c. 1750ï1650 B.C.) 
witnessed the establishment of a village without 
walls at Shiloh. Only pottery testifies to this 
foundational phase. During the ensuing period 
(MB III/MB IIC = c. 1650ï1483) the residents of 
Shiloh constructed a massive fortification 
system that enclosed 17 dunams (4.25 acres). 
MB III in the southern Levant witnessed a 
proliferation of similar fortification systems. 
Examples include Khirbet el-Maqatir, Jericho, 
Shechem, and Gezer. 

The MB III city at Shiloh, our City One, 
suffered destruction by unknown invaders, 
perhaps the recently expelled Hyksos from 
Egypt.2 Resilient residents quickly rebuilt, or at 
least resettled Shiloh as a cultic center in the 
Late Bronze Age (c. 1483ï1177 B.C.). Pit 
deposits of bones, cultic vessels, scarabs, and 
an abundance of pottery establish this fact. The 
LB inhabitants apparently continued to use the 
MB infrastructure. Israel Finkelstein, who 
excavated Shiloh from 1981 to 1984 on behalf 
of Bar Ilan University, assigned the Area D 
faunal deposit to an Israelite cleanup of the 
remnants of the Amorite sacrifices on the 
summit. The deposit, however, rich in LB 
pottery, may serve as evidence of the Israelite 
sacrificial system that began c. 1400 B.C., 
assuming an early date for the Exodus and 
Conquest. In Season One, we excavated an atypically large quantity of animal 
bones from strata V-VII in Field H1. 
 
Figure 1: Stratigraphic Sequence at Shiloh. (Chart by Authors) 

 
According to the Hebrew Bible, the Amorites controlled the Shiloh 

region at the time of the conquest (Num 13:29 [Highlands]; Josh 7:7 [Ai]; 2 
Sam 21:2 [Gibeon]), and this likely extended back to MB III (c. 1650ï1483 
B.C.). Shiloh plausibly fell within the realm of the city-state of Shechem to the 
north since it lies ten miles north of Khirbet el-Maqatir, a likely northern border 
fortress for the southern city-state of Jerusalem (Finkelstein and Naôaman, 
2005, 186). 

The site remained active until a possible second destruction, perhaps 
at the hands of the Philistines (1 Sam 4), occurred c. 1050 B.C., or slightly 
earlier, near the beginning of IA IB (c. 1075ï980 B.C.). Season One in Field 

                                                 
2 It remains unclear if the pre-Israelite residents used a different name for the site. 



 

 

H1 failed to yield evidence of this destruction in Stratum V, so clarification of 
this proposed destruction ranks as a priority in the coming seasons. Prior to 
our first season of excavation, scholars widely held that IA II (c. 980ï587 
B.C.) witnessed only a small settlement at Shiloh (1 Kgs 11:29 and 12:15; Jer 
41:5), but we found that the IA II footprint exceeded that of IA I footprint. This 
harmonizes with the findings of the Civil Administration team on the northern 
platform (Livyatan and Hizmi, 2017, 50). While we found a small amount of 
Persian and Early Hellenistic (c. 332ï167 B.C.) pottery, the latter part of the 
Late Hellenistic period (c. 167ï63 B.C.) saw a major resettlement at the site, 
and this pattern accelerated in the Early Roman (c. 63 B.C.ïA.D. 136) period. 
We now have evidence that virtually the entire site experienced settlement in 
the ER period. Byzantine era (c. A.D. 325ï636) builders matched this 
construction zeal. The city continued through the Early Islamic Age (c. A.D. 
636ï1099) and into the Middle Ages when apparently the Black Death or 
some other pestilence finally brought an end to life at ancient Shiloh. 
 

 
Picure 8: Volunteers dry sift the soil coming out of the squares. (Photo by 
Michael Luddeni) 
 
 
History of Exploration and Excavation 
 
In 1838, the great American Orientalist Edward Robinson linked the ruins at 
Khirbet Seilun, 20 miles north of Jerusalem, with the famous Israelite cultic 
site of Shiloh. Almost three decades later, in 1866, Major Charles Wilson, on 
behalf of the Palestine Exploration Fund surveyed the ruins (Wilson, 1873, 
38). A few years later the French explorer Victor Guérin documented what he 



 

 

observed at the site (Guérin, 1875, 21ï23). In the 1880s, Conder and Kitchner 
did the same in their Survey of Western Palestine (1882, 368). Following 
World War I, the Danish set their sights on excavating Shiloh, with initial 
soundings being executed by Aege Schmidt in 1922. With the help of Albright, 
Schmidt correctly identified the basic ceramic sequence at Shiloh (Albright, 
1923, 10). Three seasons of excavation followed in 1926, 1929, and 1932 
under the skilled direction of Hans Kjaer, with the helpful guidance of Albright 
and steadfast support of Schmidt. Kjaer tragically died in the middle of the 
1932 season. The cause of his death remains uncertain. Glueck describes it 
as exhaustion from the excavation (Glueck, 1933, 66), while others attribute it 
to dysentery (Anonymous, BAR, 3). Albright handed the reins of the 
excavation to his brilliant protégé Nelson Glueck who promptly closed the dig, 
without explaining his reasons. 

 

 
Pic 3: Reading pottery with reference material close at hand. (Photo by 
Suzanne Lattimer) 
 
 

In 1963, the Danish, under Svend Holm-Nielsen, returned to execute a 
final series of soundings before publishing the long-awaited final excavation 
report in 1969. As previously mentioned, from 1981 to 1984 Professor Israel 
Finkelstein, on behalf of Bar Ilan University, excavated Shiloh, publishing his 
final report in 1993. Finkelstein corrected some of the errors of the Danish 
excavation. Notably, he discovered a large faunal deposit in Area D, with a 



 

 

large quantity of interspersed Late Bronze Age pottery, some of which was 
cultic. Furthermore, Finkelstein states, ñThere were also several dozen 
Cypriot sherds. Most of the pottery is of the LBI horizon. There is also a small 
quantity of LBII pottery, although not from the end of the periodò (Finkelstein, 
1993, 45). To determine if the embedded favissa originates with Amorites in 
LB 1a or Israelites in LB 1b, we plan a careful study of these sherds and 
vessels in juxtaposition to our own ceramic discoveries.  

 
Figure 2: Field H1 Map. (Plan by Leen Ritmeyer) 

 
In Field C, Finkelstein connected with the work of the Danes and fully 

exposed Iron Age I ñstorage roomsò filled with pithoi of the collared-rim type. 
Surprisingly, these storerooms lie outside the perimeter wall. To us, this points 
to a construction date prior to the Philistine arrival in 1177 B.C. when Shiloh, 
like the meaning of its name, operated in relative tranquility. In contrast, 
Finkelstein assigns a date of c. 1150 B.C. to the Field C buildings.3 Shortly 
after Finkelstein concluded his work, Zeôev Yeivin, on behalf of the Israel 
Antiquities Authority, conducted limited excavations on the scarp just north of 
the tel (the northern platform) followed by work in a few other areas. Based on 
the scarpôs dimensions, Wilson had advocated for it as the location of the 
Israelite tabernacle (Kaufman, 1988). 

                                                 
3 After the conclusion of Season One, a member of our senior staff, Reut Ben Arie, on behalf of the 

staff officer of the Civil Administration of Judea and Samaria, excavated similar ñstoreroomsò just 

outside the perimeter wall on the southeast sector of the tel. Publication of this work is forthcoming. 

These buildings, in both locations, could also be interpreted as domestic dwellings. Ben Arie excavated 

ten IA pithoi and domestic grinders. 



 

 

In the last decade, under the guidance of Hananya Hizmi, Staff officer 
of the Civil Administration of Judea and Samaria, further excavations have 
been conducted near the summit, on the aforementioned scarp, and the 
churches and other structures along the southern approach to the site. 
Evgeny Aharonovic led the excavation of the churches, and Reut Ben-Arie 
supervised the work on the summit, northern scarp, and southeastern 
fortifications. In 2017, the Associates for Biblical Research, under the direction 
of Scott Stripling, conducted Season One of a planned multi-year expedition, 
which this article summarizes. 

 
Pic 7: Panorama of last day. Visible from left to right is previous work by the 
Danish, square AC29, square AD29, square AE30, and AF30. (Photo by 
Suzanne Lattimer) 
 
 
Research Goals 
 
Research Goals for the ABR excavation at Shiloh include the following: 
 
1.  Clarify the occupational history  

2.  Determine if the MB III fortifications enclosed a city or just a temenos 

3.  Document cultic remains from the BA and IA 

4.  Determine the extent of the BA, IA, ER, and Byz occupation in Field H1 
and on the summit 

5.  Compare the excavated remains at Shiloh with those in the Highlands 
Region, particularly the two sites previously excavated by ABR (Khirbet Nysia 
and Khirbet el-Maqatir) 

6. Connect the work of the Kjaer on the northwest fortifications with the work 
of Finkelstein on the northeast fortifications 

Season One Findings and their Significance 

Season One focused on 10 5x5 meter squares in Area H1 on the northern 
slope of the tel, with the intention of exposing the outside, top, and inside of 



 

 

the perimeter wall. This area lies between the Kjaer and Finkelstein 
excavations. We opened two squares (AC29 and AD29) directly connected 
with the Danish excavation in Areas F and H, thus continuing to expose the 
storage rooms inside the MB III fortification wall. At the other end of the field, 
Wall 6 in square AH30 clearly connects to Finkelsteinôs work in Area K. Thus, 
methodologically, we work from the known to the unknown.  

 
Pic 2: Standing on bedrock on the outside of the MB II fortification wall. (Photo 
by Michael Luddeni) 
 

The MB III fortification wall (our Wall 1) ranges from 5.3 to 5.7 meters 
thick.4 It has a denticulated or ñsaw-toothò pattern, a 1 meter wide jutting out 
of the entire wall, an unusual feature for the Highlands Region. Whether this 
massive wall functioned as a fortification wall or merely as a perimeter wall for 
a temenos remains unclear in light of the paucity of domestic architecture 
from the BA and IA inside the wall. Finkelsteinôs excavations revealed a 
massive glacis protecting the foundations of the wall, with no additional 
fortification. The absence of towers buttresses the hypothesis that the wall 
merely supported a religious platform. Our excavations proved inconclusive in 
this regard. While we found a glacis, it did not encircle the entire wall, perhaps 
being partially removed by later builders. All around Wall 1, we found an 
abundance of mud brick in various states of decay. This detritus suggests the 
existence of a mud brick superstructure atop the massive wall, a common 
building technique for this time period. This evidence hints at a city and not 
just a cultic platform. The range of colors suggests phases or refortification of 
the wall over time. 

                                                 
4 W1 designates the entire wall. W1A designates the outer c. 1 meter of ashlar construction. 

W1B designates in inner c. 1 meter of ashlar construction. W1C designates the fill material 
between W1A and W1B. 



 

 

 After the first season, we adjusted previous stratification theory and 
clarified the occupation on the northern side. As previously noted, our 
excavations showed a larger IA II presence at the site than was previously 
realized. In fact, the IA II footprint in Area H1 exceeds the IA I footprint. It was 
also thought that the ER city only covered the southern portion of the tel. We, 
however, found extensive evidence of an ER presence on the northern side of 
the tel: portions of villas, objects, 100 coins, and a large volume of diagnostic 
pottery.5 Likewise, the Byzantine remains exceeded our expectations, as 
evidenced by large terrace walls and an enigmatic augment to the exterior of 

Wall 1A. 
 
Figure 3: Early Roman ring. (Photo by Michael Luddeni) 
 

                                                 
5 Analysis of the coins rests with Dr. Yoav Farhi. Ceramic analysis lies within the prevue of 

Peretz Reuven. 



 

 

The Season One cultic remains consist of fragments of ceramic cultic stands. 
Of possible significance, the quantity of animal bones exceeded what we 
expected based on our previous excavation experience at other sites in the 
southern Levant. Only additional excavation will determine if another large 
bone deposit, like Area D, exists at Shiloh. The forthcoming zooarchaeological 
report from Season One will answer a number of questions.6 Are the bones 
from animals connected with the biblical sacrificial system? Are these young 
animals, as required by the biblical sacrificial system? The analysis will also 

illuminate the diet of the ancient inhabitants.  
 
Picture 4: Staff Metal Detectorist, Ellen Jackson, shows off a coin she found 
using her metal detector. (Photo by Michael Luddeni) 
 
Cutting-Edge Technology 
 
We pride ourselves in the technological advances at Shiloh. We became one 
of the first digs in Israel to go 100% digital in the field. Supervisors record data 
on PDF forms on their iPads, which are backed up daily to our database. We 
methodically metal detect each locus, a rarity for this region. The resulting 
metallic discoveries are astounding. In our first season at Shiloh we located 
240 coins (100 from Area H1), plus other 
metal objects like an MB axe and dagger. 
Outside of Jerusalem, we were the first, 
to our knowledge, to wet-sift our material. 
The additional excavation protocol 

                                                 
6 Dr. Lidar Sipar-Hen from Tel Aviv University serves as staff zooarchaeologist. 


